FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/12/2021 4:47 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100374-9 Court of Appeals No. 54884-4-II

# Supreme Court of the State of Washington

#### William A. Boley,

Petitioner,

v.

## Washington State Department of Labor & Industries,

Respondent.

### **Petition for Review**

Kevin Hochhalter WSBA# 43124 Attorney for Petitioner

Olympic Appeals PLLC 4570 Avery Ln SE #C-217 Lacey, WA 98503 360-763-8008 kevin@olympicappeals.com with Steven J. Solan WSBA# 19749

Solan and Solan, P.S. 322 W. Heron P.O. Box 46 Aberdeen, WA 98520 360-532-9442 steve@solanlaw.com

### **

### 1. Identity of Petitioner

William Boley, Respondent at the Court of Appeals, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review, specified below.

### 2. Court of Appeals Decision

Boley v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., No. 54884-4-II (August 17, 2021) (unpublished). Boley filed a timely motion for reconsideration, which was denied by Order dated October 12, 2021. Copies of the Opinion and the Order are in the appendix.

### 3. Issues Presented for Review

1. In *Tobin v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, this Court held that the Department cannot collect reimbursement for general damages such as pain and suffering. But the Court of Appeals has limited *Tobin* only to settlements which allocate a portion of the recovery to general damages. The result unfairly penalizes injured workers who are unable or unsuccessful in negotiating an allocation. Should this Court replace the judicially-created settlement-allocation rule with a rule

### that provides a judicial allocation of general damages?

- 2. Under *Tobin*, the Department is not entitled to collect any portion of recovery that is attributable to general damages. By rejecting Boley's asserted allocation without a hearing, the Department has collected portions of Boley's recovery that were attributable to pain and suffering. Was the superior court correct in remanding to the Department for an evidentiary hearing to determine pain and suffering?
- 3. In the settlement-allocation cases, the Court of Appeals reasoned that without an allocation in the settlement, it could not be known what amount the third-party was paying for general damages. Here, the insurers tendered their policy limits without even considering the amount of general damages. Are the settlement-allocation cases inapplicable when the injured worker has no person or entity with which to negotiate an allocation of general damages?

#### 4. Statement of the Case

4.1 Boley's life was forever changed when the vehicle in which he was riding with two co-workers was struck by a drunk driver at over 100 miles per hour.

William A. Boley sustained an industrial injury the morning of December 3, 2015, while riding as a passenger in the course of his employment with McMeekin Construction. CP 29, 320. Boley's employer, Jaymee McMeekin, was driving the large pickup truck, with his son, Jason McMeekin, in the front passenger seat and Boley in the back seat. CP 319. Boley was wearing a seat belt. CP 340.

The three were traveling southbound on
Interstate 5 south of Chehalis when they were struck
from behind by a vehicle driven by Casey Specht.
CP 320. Specht was drunk and speeding down the
Interstate at 117 miles per hour. CP 320, 339. Specht's
car collided with the McMeekin truck at 109 miles per
hour, sending the truck off the road and into a tree.

CP 320, 339. All three occupants of the truck were injured in the collision. CP 339.

Specht emerged from his vehicle unruly and belligerent, approached the totaled truck and started shoving Jason McMeekin and kicked the gravely injured Boley in the back. CP 320. Specht was eventually tased and restrained by Washington State troopers. CP 320.

Boley was in extreme pain and had to be flown to the hospital by helicopter. CP 320; see CP 270-71. He had lacerations in his small intestine and descending colon, which required immediate surgery to save his life. CP 320. After the abdominal surgery, he was immediately taken to another operating room for additional surgery to repair his fractured spine. CP 320. Multiple fractures required hardware to be placed on his spine from the L1 to L4 vertebrae. CP 320, 340. While recovering, Boley suffered a severe infection in his abdomen from the surgeries, requiring further

hospitalization. CP 340; see CP 272-73. About 18 months later, Boley returned for surgery to remove the hardware from his spine. CP 340.

Prior to the collision, Boley was a healthy and active 27-year-old working as a finish carpenter with McMeekin. CP 323, 340. Now he is scarred both physically and emotionally. CP 323. He suffers from depression and post-traumatic stress disorder. CP 323. He experiences constant pain and limited movement and physical capabilities. CP 324. Boley will never return to labor-intensive employment. CP 321. His life will never be the same. CP 324; see CP 262-68, 275-83.

Boley's experienced personal injury attorneys have estimated his total damages as exceeding \$5 Million, including general damages of \$2.5 Million. CP 200, 342.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Boley's future employability was uncertain. CP 341. After the superior court appeal, the Department determined Boley is 100 percent disabled.

4.2 The Department paid benefits to Boley, but he also sought to recover from the drunk driver. Two insurers tendered policy limits and left the injured parties to battle among themselves. Boley settled his \$5 Million claim for \$637,500 of the UIM funds.

After the collision, the Department started paying Boley worker's compensation benefits. CP 302. The Department regularly corresponded with Boley's attorney regarding the amount of benefits paid and the Department's right to reimbursement from any recovery. CP 303. By June 2018, the Department asserted it had paid Boley benefits totaling \$228,272.74. CP 435.

Boley and McMeekins sued Specht. CP 302.

Specht's liability coverage, with National General

Insurance Company, was limited to an aggregate total
of \$50,000. CP 60, 331. National General quickly
offered its policy limits, which were insufficient to
compensate any of the three claimants. CP 60.

Jaymee McMeekin sought recovery under the company's Underinsured Motorist coverage (UIM), with a policy limit of \$1 Million. CP 60. The UIM insurer, Travelers Casualty Insurance Company of America, determined that all three occupants of the McMeekin truck were insureds under the policy. CP 60.

Travelers, without receiving any demands from the claimants and without conducting any discovery, could already tell the damages would exceed its policy limits. CP 60, 64. Travelers immediately tendered its policy limit of \$1,000,000. CP 65. Travelers decided to deposit the funds with the court in an interpleader action, avoiding any conflicts of interest and leaving the claimants to negotiate among themselves how to divide the funds. CP 60, 61-62, 71, 74.

Travelers was dismissed from the interpleader action through a CR 2A stipulation in September 2016. CP 74, 89-90. The claimants dismissed Travelers from the interpleader action and released it from liability

beyond the tendered policy limits. CP 74. The claimants and Travelers did not settle the amount or character of each claimant's damages. CP 74. Avoiding that issue was why Travelers used the interpleader action. CP 61-62, 71.

With a total fund of only \$1,050,000, it was impossible to make all the claimants whole from their injuries. CP 454-55. During the negotiations, Boley consistently asserted to the Department and to the other claimants that the available funds were insufficient to cover anything other than pain and suffering and would not make Boley whole. CP 61, 303.

The claimants eventually agreed to divide the funds, \$38,000 to Jaymee McMeekin, \$374,500 to Jason McMeekin, and \$637,500 to Boley. CP 331. They signed a "Release and Settlement Agreement" in October 2017, in which the claimants released Specht and National General from all claims. CP 331. All of Boley's recovery was designated from the interpled

funds from Travelers. CP 331. Travelers was not a party to the agreement. *See* CP 60-61, 331-34. Only the three claimants and their attorneys negotiated the division of the funds, with some input from the Department. CP 40, 60-61.

4.3 When Boley had no other person or entity with which to negotiate an allocation of his pain and suffering, the Department unilaterally allocated pain and suffering, applied the statutory distribution formula, and demanded reimbursement of \$125,000.

Prior to the settlement, Boley consistently insisted that his share of the limited insurance funds would all be for pain and suffering, because the funds were insufficient to fully compensate him for his pain and suffering, let alone his other damages. CP 61, 303, 327. The three claimants ultimately agreed, with the Department's approval, that they would each individually negotiate their pain and suffering allocations with the Department. CP 83-84, 460.

The Department informed Boley that it would not accept a 100 percent allocation to pain and suffering. CP 304, 327. Instead the Department offered to allocate one-third of Boley's settlement to pain and suffering, which, by the Department's calculation, would still allow it to fully satisfy its lien under the statutory distribution formula. CP 304, 327. Based on the Department's offer, Boley's attorney retained \$125,000 of the settlement in trust in case the Department would not compromise its lien. CP 326.

After the settlement, Boley continued to insist that the Department waive its lien and allow a 100 percent allocation to pain and suffering. CP 305, 335, 337-38, 344. The Department issued a distribution order that allocated 50 percent of Boley's \$637,000<sup>2</sup> recovery to pain and suffering and distributed the remainder under the statutory formula. CP 306, 346-

The Department, through a clerical error, dropped \$500 of the settlement amount from its calculations.

48. Based on this allocation, the Department would have been fully reimbursed at \$151,882.47, but the Department compromised this amount down to \$125,000. CP 306, 348. Boley rejected this compromise and appealed the order. CP 344, 430-31.

The Department reached a separate agreement with Jason McMeekin, allocating 50 percent of his recovery to pain and suffering and another 10 percent to loss of consortium, compromising the Department's lien recovery down to \$25,000. CP 330.

4.4 Boley appealed the Department's determination. The Board affirmed, but the superior court reversed and remanded for an evidentiary hearing on pain and suffering.

On appeal, Boley sought the opportunity to present evidence and witness testimony to establish that his recovery was entirely for pain and suffering.

CP 440. The Department moved for summary judgment, arguing that because Boley's settlement did

not allocate any portion of the recovery to pain and suffering, the entire amount was subject to distribution under the statutory formula. CP 296-97.

The Department argued that even though this Court's decision in *Tobin v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 169 Wn.2d 396, 239 P.3d 544 (2010), prohibits the Department from collecting reimbursement from a recovery for general damages, later Court of Appeals decisions in Davis v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 166 Wn. App. 494, 268 P.3d 1033 (2012), and *Jones v. City of* Olympia, 171 Wn. App. 614, 287 P.3d 687 (2012), limited the impact of *Tobin* to only settlements that expressly allocate a portion of the recovery to general damages. CP 296-97. The Department asserted that it would have voided a 100 percent pain and suffering settlement under RCW 51.24.090 because that would leave nothing for the Department to collect. CP 466. The Department argued that Boley's interest in being made whole "was immaterial." CP 299.

Boley responded by arguing that *Davis* and *Jones* did not apply because unlike the parties in those cases, Boley had no one to negotiate with on his allocation to pain and suffering because the insurance companies had tendered their policy limits without reviewing the injured parties' damage claims. CP 39-41, 61-62. Additionally, the funds available in settlement were insufficient to compensate Boley for his pain and suffering, let alone his other damages. CP 41. Boley argued that just as the Department could void a settlement and seek an allocation in court, Boley should also have an opportunity to challenge the Department's allocation in an adjudicative proceeding. CP 458-59.

The Industrial Appeals Judge granted the Department's motion and affirmed the distribution order. CP 22. The judge reasoned that because the settlement did not allocate general damages, the Department was required to adhere to the statutory

calculation and could not "retroactively guess" how much of the recovery was pain and suffering. CP 28. The judge reasoned that it was impossible to verify from the record that any part of the recovery was pain and suffering. CP 27. Finding no dispute that the settlement did not allocate pain and suffering, the judge granted summary judgment for the Department. CP 29.

Boley petitioned for review by the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, again seeking an opportunity to prove his pain and suffering. CP 13-14. The Board denied the petition and adopted the IAJ's proposed order as the Decision and Order of the Board. CP 12.

Boley sought judicial review in superior court.

CP 1, 4. The superior court found that Boley had not had any opportunity to establish what portion of his recovery was pain and suffering. CP 498. The superior court concluded that there was a genuine issue of

material fact regarding the allocation and remanded to the Board for an evidentiary hearing to determine the allocation of pain and suffering. CP 498. The superior court commented, "the application of the statutory distribution scheme is unfair to Mr. Boley. When he has specials that are exceeding or approaching five hundred thousand, and the total award is only [\$637,500], and he had to have surgery, given the injuries, that's a no-brainer to me, it's just completely unfair." RP 24.

# 4.5 The Court of Appeals reversed the superior court and affirmed the Department's distribution order because Boley's settlement did not allocate pain and suffering.

The Court of Appeals applied de novo review to the superior court's de novo review of the Board's summary judgment decision. Opinion at 6-7. The court applied the settlement-allocation line of cases to limit the effect of *Tobin* to only cases in which the amount of general damages is allocated in a settlement

agreement. Opinion at 8-9. The court reasoned that "the injured worker is in complete control of the settlement process and settlement terms in the third party suit; whereas the Department has no control, or even say, in that settlement process and terms." Opinion at 10 n.3.

The court held that because Boley "could have allocated an amount for pain and suffering damages in his third party settlement but failed to do so," his entire settlement was "subject to the statutory recovery and distribution as determined by the Department." Opinion at 11. The court vacated the superior court order and reinstated the Board's distribution order. Opinion at 11.

In a concurring opinion, Judge Maxa agreed with the court's application of case law but wrote separately "to highlight the fact that the applicable statutes and the controlling case law place injured workers attempting to settle third party claims in a difficult

situation." Opinion at 12 (Maxa, J., concurring). Judge Maxa highlighted the Department's veto power in RCW 51.24.090(1), which states that any third party settlement that would result in less than full recovery of the Department's lien is void unless approved by the Department. Opinion at 12 (Maxa, J., concurring). The result, Judge Maxa pointed out, is that the injured worker is entirely at the mercy of the Department: "Unless [the Department] agrees with the worker's proposed allocation, [the Department] can simply void the worker's settlement. And the statutes provide no mechanism for a judicial determination—either by an administrative law judge or by the superior court—of what constitutes a reasonable allocation to pain and suffering." Opinion at 12 (Maxa, J., concurring).

Thus, Judge Maxa concluded, even if Boley had allocated pain and suffering in a settlement agreement, the Department could have unilaterally imposed its own preferred allocation by voiding Boley's settlement

as insufficient. Opinion at 13 (Maxa, J., concurring). "This result seems unfair." Opinion at 13 (Maxa, J., concurring).

### 5. Argument

A petition for review should be accepted when the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals or if the case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Tobin* by allowing the Department to collect reimbursement from portions of Boley's recovery that, in fact, represent general damages. The settlement-allocation rule created by the Court of Appeals, combined with the Department's veto power, unfairly penalizes workers with grave injuries and insufficient third-party insurance to make them whole,

when it allows the Department to collect from the worker's already insufficient recovery. This unfairness is a matter of public interest that should be addressed by this Court.

## 5.1 The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Tobin*.

The Court of Appeals decision, in applying the settlement-allocation line of cases, conflicts with this Court's decision in *Tobin* by allowing the Department to collect funds that, in fact, represented Boley's pain and suffering.

In *Tobin*, this Court interpreted the third party recovery statutes, chapter 51.24 RCW, and held that the "recovery" that is subject to "reimbursement" to the Department excludes noneconomic damages such as pain and suffering. *Tobin v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 169 Wn.2d 396, 401-02, 239 P.3d 544 (2010). Because the Department does not pay out benefits for pain and suffering, it cannot be reimbursed from pain and

suffering. *Id.* at 402, 404. The fairness of limiting fund replenishment to those damage types that the fund actually paid out in benefits overrode concerns over the solvency of the fund. *Id.* at 404.

"Chapter 51.24 RCW does not authorize the Department to subject pain and suffering damages to its reimbursement calculation." *Tobin*, 169 Wn.2d at 404. "The Department did not pay out benefits for pain and suffering; therefore it cannot be 'reimbursed' from amounts recovered for pain and suffering. We hold that an award for pain and suffering may not be used by the Department in its distribution calculation." *Id.* at 406-07.

Boley asserted continually that his third party recovery was only for pain and suffering. He estimated his pain and suffering at \$2.5 Million, compared to the \$1,050,000 that was available to divide among three injured parties. Given the insurance policy limits, there was no way for Boley to be made whole for his pain and

suffering, let alone for his economic damages. It was reasonable for Boley to insist that his \$637,500 recovery was 100 percent for pain and suffering. When the Department demanded "reimbursement" of \$125,000 out of Boley's already insufficient recovery, it necessarily sought to collect funds that, in fact, represented pain and suffering.

Under *Tobin*, the Department has no authority to collect pain and suffering. The Court of Appeals decision here conflicts with *Tobin* because it allows the Department to collect Boley's pain and suffering.

The Court of Appeals based its decision on the "settlement-allocation" line of cases: Jones v. City of Olympia, 171 Wn. App. 614, 287 P.3d 687 (2012); Davis v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 166 Wn. App. 494, 268 P.3d 1033 (2012); Gersema v. Allstate Ins. Co., 127 Wn. App. 687, 112 P.3d 552 (2005); and Mills v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 72 Wn. App. 575, 865 P.2d 41 (1994). These cases hold, generally, that when a third-party

settlement does not allocate a specific amount to pain and suffering or loss of consortium, the Department is justified in applying its reimbursement formula to the entire settlement because it cannot determine from the record what portion should be beyond its reach. *See*Jones, 171 Wn. App. at 624-29.

But the fact that a settlement does not specifically allocate damage types does not somehow transform the portion that is pain and suffering into a damage type that would be collectable. Pain and suffering damages are still excluded from the statutory definition of "recovery." This statutory interpretation remains true regardless of whether the pain and suffering has been allocated in a settlement.

It should not be enough for the Department to say, "I can't tell how much of this is pain and suffering," and then use the whole thing. Nor should it be enough for the Department to unilaterally say, "I think the pain and suffering was 50 percent," without

any recourse for the injured worker to demonstrate that it was more. If the record does not show how much is pain and suffering, the Department should first find the answer to that question before it can collect. The amount of pain and suffering is a material fact that must be determined before applying the distribution formula.

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