FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/12/2022 10:56 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100374-9

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILLIAM A. BOLEY,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Anastasia Sandstrom Senior Counsel WSBA No. 24163 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Ave., Ste. 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6993

# **

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

William Boley filed both a third party lawsuit and an industrial insurance claim for the same injury caused by a negligent driver, and he allocated no portion of the third party recovery to general damages or loss of consortium. In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals held that under this circumstance the entire settlement was subject to distribution

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Jones v. City of Olympia, 171 Wn. App. 614, 287 P.3d 687 (2012); Davis v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 166 Wn. App. 494, 268 P.3d 1033 (2012); Gersema v. Allstate Ins. Co., 127 Wn. App. 687, 112 P.3d 552 (2005); Mills v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 72 Wn. App. 575, 865 P.2d 41, review denied, 124 Wn.2d 1008 (1994).

under the statutory formula. Boley argues that this conflicts with *Tobin*, which excludes general damages from distribution, but that case involved an allocated settlement, illustrating the basic principle that it is possible to allocate settlements. He also argues that there is an issue of substantial public interest, arguing the line of cases that the Court of Appeals followed is wrong and unfair. But these cases properly follow the many decisions of this Court that place the responsibility of proving their entitlement to benefits on the worker.

Boley asks the Court to reject long-standing precedent requiring injured workers to allocate damages recovered in third party actions. And the centerpiece of this argument is that the Department has too much power in the settlement process. This is incorrect. Boley could have had—but did not have—an independent factfinder (the court in an interpleader action) establish what portion of his settlement constituted general damages, which would have insulated that portion from distribution regardless of the Department's interest.

Furthermore, under *any* distribution of his recovery, Boley, like any injured worker with a third party claim, will receive more in combined workers' compensation benefits and tort damages than under either avenue alone.

The Legislature's distribution formula is not unfair. This Court should deny review.

#### II. ISSUE

Decades of Court of Appeals opinions state that to be exempt from distribution under RCW 51.24.060, general damages must be explicitly allocated in a settlement agreement. Was the Department required to allocate 100 percent of the settlement to pain and suffering when Boley allocated none of it to such damages in his settlement agreement?

#### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

# A. Third Party Claims Under the Industrial Insurance Act

In general, workers injured in the course of their employment cannot file tort lawsuits, as the Industrial Insurance Act typically provides the exclusive remedy for workers injured on the job. *See* RCW 51.04.010. But the Act establishes a narrow exception to this rule when a third party injures a worker. The third party statute, RCW 51.24, allows injured workers to pursue civil actions against responsible third parties for damages. RCW 51.24.030.

In the context of workers' compensation, the term "third party" is not limited to persons directly liable, such as tortfeasors. *O'Rourke v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 57 Wn. App. 374, 380, 788 P.2d 17 (1990). Third party also includes insurers who are liable under underinsured motorist policies where the policy is owned by the employer. *Michel v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 80 Wn. App. 32, 34, 906 P.2d 960 (1995). Thus, an employer's underinsured motorist policy falls within the scope of the third party statute. RCW 51.24.030(4).

The injured worker is entitled to full compensation and benefits under the Industrial Insurance Act, regardless of the worker's election to pursue recovery against the third party. RCW 51.24.040. But any recovery obtained from the third

party is subject to distribution under RCW 51.24.060, which includes a reimbursement share to the Department for workers' compensation benefits paid (less a proportionate share of attorney fees and costs).

"[A]ny recovery" made in a third party action is subject to distribution according to the mandatory formula set out in the statute. Under this formula, "recovery" is defined to include "all damages" the worker receives in a third party lawsuit except loss of consortium. RCW 51.24.030(5). As a result, damages for loss of consortium are not subject to distribution under the third party statute. See also Flanigan v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 123 Wn.2d 418, 420, 426, 869 P.2d 14 (1994). Pursuant to this Court's precedent, also excluded from distribution under RCW 51.24.060(1) are pain and suffering damages. *Tobin*, 169 Wn.2d at 406–07. Neither of these two types of damages may be included in the portion of the recovery subject to distribution. Id.

The third party statute serves several sometimescompeting purposes. One purpose is to make it possible for the worker to receive compensation "from the party . . . responsible for [the worker's] injuries and consequent damages." Maxey v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 114 Wn.2d 542, 549, 789 P.2d 75 (1990). Another purpose is to shift the cost of the workers' compensation benefits paid under the claim from the Industrial Insurance funds onto the liable tortfeasors. Id. Third party lawsuits reimburse the workers' compensation funds so they "are not charged for damages caused by a third party." Id. A third purpose of the third party statute is to prevent the worker from receiving a double recovery, i.e., the worker "cannot be paid compensation and benefits from the Department and yet retain the portion of damages which would include those same elements." Maxey, 114 Wn.2d at 549.

# B. Boley Was Injured by a Negligent Third Party in the Course of His Employment and Received a Third Party Recovery and Benefits from the Department

Boley suffered a serious on-the-job injury when the company vehicle in which he was a passenger was rear-ended. CP 22, 29, 71, 320, 339. Because of the injury, Boley received workers' compensation benefits and sought to recover damages from the negligent driver and from his own employer's underinsured motorist (UIM) coverage provider. CP 22, 25, 29, 71, 309, 331. Two others who were riding in the car at the time of the accident were also injured. CP 25, 29, 71, 320, 331.

The negligent driver's insurer provided its \$50,000 policy limit and the UIM carrier tendered its \$1,000,000 policy limit in an interpleader action. CP 25, 331. Boley and the two other injured persons were joined as co-defendants in the interpleader action. CP 25, 60, 331. Boley and his codefendants agreed to dismiss the UIM carrier from the interpleader action and to distribute funds among themselves, either by agreement or by a decision from the court. CP 25, 60–61, 89.

While the interpleader action was underway, the Department asserted its statutory interest in the potential recovery, and gave Boley's attorney notice of this. *See* CP 309– 13, 316–18, 325–28. The Department periodically sent Boley correspondence that informed him of the amount the Department had spent on Boley's workers' compensation claim. *Id.* Boley's attorney acknowledged that the recovery would be subject to a Department lien. CP 82, 86–87.

While mediating the interpleader action during 2017, Boley attempted to negotiate an agreement with the Department about the amount of its lien. CP 319–27. Boley knew that the Department would not approve of a settlement that allocated the entire amount of the recovery to pain and suffering. CP 310–13, 316–18, 326–27; *See* RCW 51.24.090(1) ("Any compromise or settlement of the third party cause of action by the injured worker or beneficiary which results in less than the entitlement [to reimbursement of benefits] under this title is void unless made with the written approval of the department or selfinsurer."). Boley and the Department exchanged settlement proposals allocating various portions of the recovery to pain and suffering. CP 326–27. The Department advised Boley's attorney that it would not accept a settlement that had a 100 percent allocation to pain and suffering. CP 304, 327.

Boley was always aware that some portion of his third party recovery would be subject to the Department's statutory reimbursement right. *E.g.*, CP 82-83. Indeed, he relied on that fact in negotiating a larger settlement in the interpleader action. *See* CP 86-87 (letter from Boley's attorney seeking greater share of interpled funds due to "net result" to Boley after distribution).

In the mediation itself, Boley initially claimed past medical expenses of more than \$380,000, medical damages "for the rest of his life," and unspecified lost wages and general damages. CP 322-324 (5/9/17 mediation statement). In August

of 2017, Boley asserted lost wages of \$955,000. CP 82. Later, in connection with a claim against his own UIM carrier, Boley alleged medical damages of more than \$424,000, lost wages of approximately \$2.4 million, and general damages of \$2.5 million. CP 195-200.

In October 2017, without having reached an agreement with the Department about distribution of the recovery, Boley settled the interpleader claim with the other passengers. CP 331–34. The negotiated settlement agreement provided that Boley recovered \$637,500.00 and contained no allocation to damages such as pain and suffering. CP 331–34. It did, however, require Boley to satisfy any liens on the recovery, including "liens of workers' compensation insurance." CP 331. One of the other other two defendants also had a workers' compensation claim, and made a separate arrangement with the Department about allocation. CP 83–84, 330, 461.

After settling his third party case, Boley continued to negotiate with the Department regarding the distribution of the

recovery. CP 335-338. In a May 18, 2018 letter he asked the Department to waive its interest entirely, reiterating his alleged damages of \$424,000 in medical bills, \$2.4 million in lost wages, and \$2.5 million in pain and suffering. CP 339-343.

# C. The Department Issued an Order That Distributed Boley's Third Party Settlement and the Board Affirmed the Order

The Department issued a distribution order on June 6,

2018. CP 346. At that time the Department had paid benefits on Boley's claim of more than \$246,000. CP 348. The Department distributed \$637,000.00 (\$500 less than the actual settlement amount)<sup>2</sup> of the recovery as follows: (1) \$318,500.00 allocated to pain and suffering (50 percent of the recovery);

(2) \$106,586.11 to Mr. Boley's attorney for fees and costs;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The distribution of \$500 less than the actual recovery was presumably based on Boley's May 18, 2018 letter, which erroneously described the recovery as \$637,000 rather than \$637,500. Regardless, assuming the Department used the lower dollar amount in error, this worked to Boley's benefit, as it allowed him to retain a slightly larger portion of the award.

(3) \$86,913.89 to Mr. Boley; and (4) \$125,000.00 to the Department for benefits paid. CP 346.<sup>3</sup>

Boley appealed to the Board. CP 430-31. Citing *Davis* and *Jones*, the Industrial Appeals Judge granted the Department's motion for summary judgment because Boley settled his claim for a lump sum and the settlement agreement contained no allocation to damages for pain and suffering. CP 22–31 (citing *Jones*, 171 Wn. App. 614; *Davis*, 166 Wn. App. 494). The Board adopted the Industrial Appeal Judge's decision after Boley petitioned for review. CP 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Department was not required to designate any portion of the settlement to pain and suffering damages because Boley failed to allocate in his settlement. So the allocation of 50 percent of the recovery to pain and suffering (which Boley received) was itself a significant unilateral compromise on the part of the Department. Notably, however, that allocation was consistent with the proportionate total damages that Boley described in his May 18, 2018 letter. The Department further reduced its share from more than \$150,000 to \$125,000. *See* CP 306, 345, 348.

# D. The Superior Court Reversed the Board's Decision and Remanded It to the Board for Additional Evidence

Boley appealed the Board's decision to superior court.

CP 1. At superior court, Boley asserted that his case was distinguishable from *Davis* and *Jones*. CP 477–78. This was so, he argued, because the interpleader action did not provide him with an opportunity to present evidence of pain and suffering, nor a chance to allocate any portion of his recovery to such damages. CP 477–78. The Department responded that established case law provides that the entirety of an undifferentiated settlement is subject to distribution under RCW 51.24.060. CP 484–87. And the Department also noted that nothing about the fact that the case was an interpleader action prevented Boley and his coworkers from agreeing to designate a portion of Boley's recovery as pain and suffering damages, just as they had allocated the total recovery among themselves. See CP 487.

The superior court reversed the Board's decision. CP 496-99. The court ruled that "Boley was denied an opportunity to have his pain and suffering designated" in the interpleader action, because he was denied "an opportunity to have an adversarial procedure where evidence can be presented and pain and suffering can be determined." RP 23-24. Because it believed he had been unable to allocate any portion of his recovery to damages for pain and suffering, the superior court continued, "the application of the statutory distribution scheme is unfair to Mr. Boley. When he has specials that are exceeding or approaching five hundred thousand, and the total award is only [\$637,500], and he had to have surgery, given the injuries, that's a no-brainer to me, it's just completely unfair." RP 24.4

The court entered a judgment that remanded the case to the Board "for [an] evidentiary hearing regarding pain and suffering. Following that hearing, the Board shall make a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As discussed above, Boley's alleged special damages were actually nearly \$3 million. *See supra* p. 11.

determination of what portion of Mr. Boley's recovery should be allocated to damages for pain and suffering." CP 498; *see* RP 24–25. The Department appealed. CP 500–04.

# E. The Court of Appeals Followed Well-Settled Case Law to Reverse the Superior Court

The Court of Appeals reversed the superior court's decision, holding that because Boley failed to designate any portion of his settlement to pain and suffering damages, the Department correctly applied the distribution statute. *Boley v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, No. 54884-4-II; Slip op. 7–8 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 17, 2021) (unpublished decision). In reaching this result, the Court of Appeals followed the four Court of Appeals cases that require allocation. *Boley*, slip op. at 9–11 (citing *Jones*, 171 Wn. App. at 624–29; *Davis*, 166 Wn. App. at 495–98; *Gersema*, 127 Wn. App. at 693; *Mills*, 72 Wn. App. at 577–78).

#### IV. REASONS TO DENY REVIEW

There is no reason under either RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (4) to take review. Boley's claimed conflict is refuted by the text of

the *Tobin* decision. And there is no issue of substantial public interest when the Legislature's decision to provide for distribution of funds, with discretion to the Department to compromise its lien, is furthered by the allocation rule. Finally, the fact that a deficient settlement is void is not unfair to injured workers.

# A. The Court of Appeals Acted Consistently with *Tobin*, Jones, Davis, Mills, and Gersema

The Court of Appeals acted consistently with *Tobin* by recognizing that *Tobin* did not address the allocation issue in this case. *Boley*, slip op. 9 (citing *Tobin*, 169 Wn.2d at 404). Boley argues that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Tobin* "by allowing the Department to collect reimbursement from portions of Boley's recovery that, in fact, represent general damages." Pet. 18; *see also* Pet. 19, 21–22, 26. This is of course unknown, since the settlement does not describe any of the recovery as general damages. Furthermore, as Boley admits, *Tobin* did not reach the allocation issue presented here because that case involved an allocated settlement. Pet. 25. So there is no conflict.

Boley also says that there is not a public policy issue in solvency of the workers' compensation fund because *Tobin* did not find that controlling in its holding about pain and suffering damages. Pet. 29. But *Tobin* does not eliminate reimbursement of the funds for workers' compensation benefits paid as an interest, nor did it overrule or otherwise modify the multiple decisions that emphasize the interest in reimbursing the funds.

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